FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/10/2023 10:06 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101877-1

Court of Appeals No. 835963

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KING COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Plaintiff,

v.

CPM DEVELOPMENT CORP., dba ICON MATERIALS, a Washington corporation.

Defendant.

CPM DEVELOPMENT CORP., dba ICON MATERIALS, a Washington corporation,

Third-Party Respondent,

v.

D&R EXCAVATING, INC., INC., a Washington corporation; DOUGLAS D. HOFFMANN and SUSAN K. HOFFMANN, and the marital community composed thereof,

Third Party Appellants.

D&R EXCAVATING, INC., a Washington corporation,

Fourth Party Appellant,

v.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

D&R Excavating, Inc., Douglas D. Hoffmann and Susan K. Hoffmann ask this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decisions for which review is sought is the Court of Appeals' decision filed on 02/06/2023, and the Court of Appeals' Order Denying D&R's Motion for Reconsideration dated 03/09/2023, both in the Appendix attached to this Petition.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Petitioner presents the following three issues for review.

(1) **Indemnification.** Whether the duty to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless can be breached before a third-party's claim against the indemnitee is either (a) paid by the indemnitee **and** the indemnitee submits proof that the indemnitee was liable to the third-party for said payment, or (b) before the third-party's claim is actually adjudicated **and** the indemnitee is adjudicated liable to the third party.

- (2) Nuisance. Whether an action for nuisance, other than nuisance *per se*, public or private, can be maintained absent proof of injury or harm.
- (3) **Nuisance** *per se.* Whether an action for nuisance *per se* can be maintained absent an ordinance or statute that declares that the complained-of-act is itself injurious to the public and therefore not permissible under any circumstance.
- (4) Payment Bond. Whether a claim against a payment bond can be maintained per RCW 39.08.010 notwithstanding that payment has not yet become due to the bond claimant under a pay-if-paid or contractual term.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Indemnification. King County contracted ("Main Contract") with ICON to grind off the weathered asphalt

layer of the Vashon Highway and apply a new replacement layer. Exhibit 2. CP 354. The WSDOT Standard Specifications 2018 2 - 03.3(7)(C), Exhibit 4, required ICON to obtain all approvals and permits required for the disposal of waste material hauled from the project. CP 455.

ICON subcontracted with multiple trucking companies, including D&R, to haul and dispose of asphalt grindings as directed by ICON. CP 679. ICON's subcontract ("Subcontract") with D&R included "Attachment A" that stated that D&R would haul the asphalt grindings from Vashon Highway and dispose of the asphalt grindings at sites approved by D&R at which time the asphalt grindings became the property of D&R. Exhibit 17: Attachment A. The Subcontract incorporated the Main Contract wherein D&R agreed to be bound to ICON as ICON was bound to King County, including ICON's obligation to obtain all approvals and permits required for disposal of the asphalt grindings. Exhibit 17: \P 1.3

King County claimed that ICON failed to obtain the approvals and permits required for the disposal sites where ICON and ICON's subcontractors, including D&R, deposited and stockpiled the asphalt grindings, one of which was known as the Hoffmann Property. (CP 8: ¶ 30; CP 118, and Exhibits 20,25). ICON denied that said permits were required. (CP 642; Exhibits 20, 25). This suit followed.

King County sued ICON and requested the Court to enter an order directing ICON to remove the asphalt grindings from the Hoffmann Property (CP 9) to disposal sites approved by King County. King County also claimed against D&R, claiming that the actions of D&R presented a risk to the health and safety of the residents on Vashon-Maury Island and therefore constituted a public nuisance, CP 74, and requested the Court to enter an order directing ICON to remove the asphalt grindings from the Hoffmann

Property. CP 9. ICON joined D&R as a third-party defendant and claimed against D&R that D&R breached its subcontract with ICON by not obtaining permits as required by King County and by not defending, indemnifying, and holding ICON harmless from King County's claim against ICON for ICON's failure to dispose of the asphalt grindings as required by ICON's contract with King County. (CP 20, 21 ¶ 28, 32). ICON demanded that D&R defend, indemnify, and hold ICON harmless against King County's claims against ICON. (CP 23: VI B). D&R offered to defend ICON. D&R's offer to defend ICON was declined by ICON who elected to retain their own counsel. (Attachments 1, 2, and 3 to CP 2287 – 2351) as ICON had the right to do under the terms of its subcontract with D&R. Exhibit 17:

Attachment B - 3 – Indemnification.

D&R filed a counterclaim against ICON for breach of the Subcontract (CP 179 – 183). D&R also filed a claim against ICON's payment bond, (CP 32 - 36) issued by Fourth Party

Defendant Fidelity & Deposit Company of Maryland, Payment Bond No. 9283912 ("Fidelity"). ICON filed a Motion to dismiss D&R's claim against Fidelity's payment bond (CP 583 - 613). The trial court granted ICON's motion (CP 830 - 835) and awarded attorneys' fees to ICON (CP 2396 - 2402).

ICON also filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment against D&R on the issue of D&R's breach of duty to indemnify ICON for ICON's costs to remove the asphalt grindings from Vashon-Maury Island (CP 188 - 208). The trial court granted ICON's motion (CP 426 – 433) and awarded attorneys' fees and costs to ICON. (CP 2396 – 2402).

Evidence was introduced at trial that ICON and D&R disposed of asphalt grindings at Mileta Pit (CP 388), Williams Property Holdings (CP 639), and Misty Isle Farms CP 679) on Vashon-Maury Island without first obtaining grading permits required by King County. RP 103.

ICON met with King County to discuss obtaining the required permits to keep the asphalt grindings in place at the above locations on Vashon-Maury Island. RP 120. ICON decided that removing the asphalt grindings to approved locations off Vashon-Maury Island was more "cost effective" than obtaining the permits required by King County to keep the asphalt grindings in place. RP 120. ICON claimed that ICON incurred substantial costs to remove the asphalt grindings from Vashon Island and dispose of the asphalt grindings at sites approved by King County. RP 121. ICON claimed these costs as damages against King County (CP 20 ¶ 22). ICON claimed against D&R for payment of these costs. (CP 21 ¶ 32) pursuant to D&R's contractual obligation to indemnify.

During trial, ICON and King County stipulated to a dismissal of all claims against each other and the jury was so instructed. (CP 1717, Jury Instruction No. 20).

The Court of Appeals' decision (pages 14 - 16) affirmed the trial court's instruction to the jury that D&R breached its duty to defend, indemnify, and hold ICON harmless. The Court of Appeals held that ICON's settlement with King County, wherein ICON voluntarily complied with its contractual obligation to properly dispose of the recycled asphalt pavement and King County then paid ICON the full balance of ICON's contract without proof of liability or without adjudication of liability, was sufficient as a matter of law to establish such a breach.

B. Nuisance. Vashon-Maury Island is located in a Critical Aquifer Recharge Area ("CARA"). The residents of Vashon-Maury Island are dependent upon groundwater for their water supply. King County claimed that the disposal of asphalt grindings (aka recycled asphalt pavement "RAP") was prohibited by King County Code 16.82.100 which prohibits the use or deposit of RAP as fill material in a CARA unless the RAP is disposed of at a sanitary landfill,

the RAP is used as engineered fill, or the RAP is otherwise approved by the Department. (CP 1700). King County also claimed that the use of RAP in a CARA presented a risk to the public health and safety. CP 66 - 76. King County filed a Motion in Limine seeking to exclude any evidence that RAP was not hazardous, dangerous, or toxic. (CP 1234). The Court reserved ruling on King County's Motion in Limine on the basis that if King County offered no evidence at trial that RAP endangered the public health or safety or posed a danger to Vashon-Maury Island's groundwater supply then neither could D&R introduce any evidence at trial that RAP did not endanger the public health and safety. King County offered no such evidence at trial and therefore pursuant to the trial court's Order on Limine, D&R offered no evidence that RAP did not endanger the health or safety of others. At the close of evidence, no evidence of RAP's risk to health or safety had been offered by any party and accordingly the trial court specifically instructed the jury

that whether RAP posed a risk or danger to the environment or groundwater on Vashon Island was not an issue in the case. CP 1705: Jury Instruction No. 8.

The jury was also instructed that King County claimed that D&R created a public nuisance *per se* based on D&R and the Hoffmanns' violation KCC 16.82.100(A)(4)(d) by D&R's placement of RAP on the above several Vashon Island properties. CP 1700: Jury Instruction No. 3. The trial court further instructed the jury that nuisance was any unlawful act that endangered the health or safety of others. CP 1704: Jury Instruction No. 7. The jury was instructed that any civil code violation [KCC 16.82.100(A)(4)(d)] was a public nuisance.

The Court of Appeals' decision affirmed the trial court's instructions to the jury that (1) the use of recycled asphalt pavement in a critical aquifer recharge area was a public nuisance notwithstanding the preclusion of any evidence of harm or injury, and (2) the use of recycled asphalt pavement in a critical aquifer recharge area was a nuisance *per se*.

C. Payment Bond per RCW 39.08.030. The subcontract between ICON and D&R contained a pay-if-paid clause, meaning that payment by ICON to D&R was conditioned on ICON receiving payment from King County for work performed by D&R and invoiced by D&R to ICON. Such contractual clauses are common and generally enforceable in Washington. Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. County of Spokane, 150 Wn.2d 375, 78 P.3d 161 (2003). The Court of Appeals ruled that D&R's claim against ICON's statutory payment bond was premature and untenable because ICON's payment to D&R had not yet become contractually due.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Indemnification. This case is not about the duty to indemnify: all parties agree that D&R Excavating, Inc.'s subcontract required D&R to indemnify ICON from claims of liability asserted by third parties against ICON. Rather, this

case is about if and when a cause of action accrues for breach of a duty to indemnify and whether in this case the jury was improperly instructed that D&R Excavating, Inc. had already breached that duty. D&R Excavating, Inc. is contractually bound to indemnify. However, the breach of that duty was attendant upon adjudication of a third party's claim asserted against the indemnitee (ICON) or payment by the indemnitee to the third-party claimant together with proof of the indemnitee's liability to the third party.

In Nelson v. Sponberg, 51 Wn.2d 371, 376, 377 (1957) the Supreme Court stated the law of indemnification as follows:

As recognized in that case, Washington is with the majority of courts which hold that an indemnitee who seeks reimbursement from his indemnitor for a payment made by him in discharge of a claim indemnified against is not bound to submit to suit before paying the claim; but if he pays without such suit, as a condition of recovery from his indemnitor, he is under the necessity of proving that he was liable for the amount thus paid.

The Court of Appeals' decision below is in direct conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in **Nelson v. Sponberg** 51 Wn.2d 371, 376, 377 (1957) and in direct conflict with

Newcomer v. Masini, 45 Wn. App. 284, 288 (Division III,

1986) which like Court in Nelson v. Sponberg, stated the law

as follows:

An indemnitee who seeks [***8] reimbursement from his indemnitor for a payment made by him in discharge of a claim indemnified against is not bound to submit to suit before paying the claim; but if he pays without such suit, as a condition of recovery from his indemnitor, he is under the necessity of proving that he was liable for the amount thus paid.

In Central Refrigeration v. Barbee, 133 Wn. 2d 509,

513 (1997), Washington Supreme Court explained the meaning

and application of indemnity as follows:

[1] Indemnity in its most basic sense means reimbursement (BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 769 (6TH ed. 1990)) and may lie when one party discharges a liability which another should rightfully have assumed. Stevens v. Security Pac. Mortgage Corp., <u>53 Wn. App.</u> <u>507</u>, 517, 768 P.2d 1007 ("Indemnity requires full reimbursement and transfers liability from the one who has been compelled to pay damages to another who should bear the entire loss."), review denied, <u>112 Wn. 2d</u> <u>1023 (1989)</u>. <<2>>

[2, 3] While indemnity sounds in contract and tort <<<3>> it is a separate equitable cause of action. The

variety of indemnity relevant to this case is implied contractual indemnity, also referenced to as "implied in fact" indemnity. Such arises when one party incurs a liability the other party should discharge by virtue of the nature of the relationship between the two parties.

Here in this case, there was no payment of damages made to a third party and ICON incurred no liability to King County other than ICON's initial contractual obligation to properly dispose of the asphalt millings. ICON made a voluntary business decision to complete its contractual obligations to King County by exporting the recycled asphalt pavement to permitted disposal sites. There was no adjudication or proof offered that ICON was liable to King County for damages: only fulfillment of ICON's contractual obligation to King County. D&R Excavating, Inc. surely remained subject to ICON's claims against D&R Excavating, Inc. for breach of D&R Excavating, Inc.'s subcontractual obligations to properly dispose of the recycled asphalt pavement, but that is an entirely different legal basis or legal cause of action than ICON's claim against D&R Excavating, Inc. that D&R breached its duty to

indemnify ICON.

There exists no authority for the proposition that a contractor who has incurred expenses to complete its contract with another party may seek "indemnification" of those expenses from a subcontractor even when the contractor claims that the subcontractor caused said expenses. The contractor's claim, if any, is against the subcontractor for breach of subcontract, typically referred to as a backcharge or offset: not indemnification. See, Stocker v. Shell Oil Co. 105 Wn.2d 546, 549 (1986); at p.549 ("Indemnity agreements are essentially agreements for contractual contribution, whereby one tortfeasor against whom damages in favor of an injured party have been assessed may look to another for reimbursement".); United Boatbuilders v. Tempo Prods. Co., Wn.App. 177, 180-181 (1969) ("...reimbursement from his indemnitor for a payment made by him in discharge of a claim".); Parkridge Assocs. V. Ledcor Indus., 113 Wn.2d 592, 604 (2002); ("...our Supreme Court stated in **Barbee** that it is settled law that indemnity

actions accrue when the party seeking indemnity pays, or is legally adjudged obligated to pay, damages to a **third party**."; **Newcomer v. Masini,** 45 Wn. App. 284, 286 (1986) ("...for a payment made by him in discharge of a claim...").

Always, there must be payment to a third party claimant upon either an adjudication of liability for said payment to a third party or payment to the third party upon the payor's proof of liability to the third party. That is our caselaw in Washington, including the Washington Supreme Court and all Divisions of the Courts of Appeals, Nelson v. Sponberg, 51 Wn. 2d 371, 374 (1957) ("...reimbursement for a payment made in discharge of a claim"); Central Refrigeration v. Barbee, 133 Wn. 2d 509, 513 (1997) (Indemnity means reimbursement and may lie "when one party discharges a **liability** which another should rightfully have assumed"); and View Condo. Ass'n v. Fortune Star Dev. Co., 151 Wn.2d 534, 539. (2004).

The trial court erred in instructing the jury that D&R

Excavating, Inc. had already breached a duty to indemnify ICON.

Petitioners request the Supreme Court accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision below is in direct conflict with multiple decisions of the Supreme Court and also in direct conflict with multiple published decisions of other Divisions of the Court of Appeals. Moreover, indemnification clauses are commonly included in construction contracts, both public and private. This case strongly calls for clarification from the Supreme Court that (1) indemnification involves discharge of a liability to a third party: not costs incurred to perform an indemnitee's contractual obligation to a third party and (2) the duty to indemnify is not breached until and unless the indemnitee has paid a third party's claim or been adjudged to do so.

B. Nuisance. The Court of Appeals' decision stated that a nuisance is unlawfully doing an act that endangers the health or safety of others (page 10) citing RCW 7.48.120. The Court of Appeals' decision further stated (page 10, 11) as follows:

> "A nuisance per se exists when the legislative authority has declared the complained-of-act to be unlawful".

That is an incorrect statement of the law. A nuisance *per se* exists **only** when the legislative authority expressly declares the complained-of-act to be a nuisance or otherwise detrimental to the public safety and health. The Court of Appeals relied upon **Kitsap County v. Kev, Inc.**, 106 Wn.2d 135, 138 (1986). The Court's reliance on **Kitsap County v. Kev**. was misplaced. In **Kitsap County v. Kev**., the Supreme Court based its affirmance on the substantive content of the specific ordinance which Kev. Inc. was charged with violating and which ordinance (Ordinance 92, Section II) expressly stated that violation of said ordinance (Ordinance 92) was "itself an injury to the community". In **Kitsap County v. Kev, Inc**., the Court found that "The Kitsap County Commissioners validly provided that a studio in violation of ordinance 92 would be declared a public nuisance". Here, there is no such provision in the King County Code stating that either the use of recycled asphalt pavement in a critical aquifer recharge area is a nuisance of any sort, or the failure to obtain a grading permit for the use of recycled asphalt pavement in a critical aquifer recharge area is a nuisance of any sort. D&R was only cited for failing to obtain a grading permit for both placement and use of recycled asphalt pavement on the property located at 8816 SW Cemetery Road.

Here in this case, D&R Excavating was cited for violating an ordinance that, unlike the facts in **Kitsap County v. Kev, Inc**. does **not** declare that violation of KCC 16.82.100 (A)(4)(d) is a nuisance of any kind: public, private, or per se.

Further, the Court of Appeals' following application of **Kitsap County v. Kev, Inc**. (page 11) was misplaced.

"If the plaintiff establishes a nuisance per se, it need not separately prove injury, as the legislative body has already determined that the act is itself injurious to the public."

Here, there is nothing stated anywhere in the King County Code that the use of recycled asphalt pavement (i.e., "the act") is "…itself injurious to the community". To the contrary, the jury was instructed that harm to the environment was not an issue.

Here in the case of D&R Excavating, Inc., KCC

16.82.100(A)(4)(d) nowhere provides that the complained-ofact (i.e., use of recycled asphalt pavement in a critical aquifer recharge area) "provides for injunctions against violations". KCC 16.82.100(A)(4)(d) provides for the opposite: i.e., D&R Excavating, Inc. obtaining a grading permit to place or use recycled asphalt pavement in a critical aquifer recharge area. Surely, if KCC 16.82.100(A)(4)(d) stated or inferred that use of recycled asphalt pavement in a critical aquifer recharge area was harmful to the environment, King County would not be offering either ICON or D&R Excavating, Inc. a permit to do so. The harm obviously would persist notwithstanding any permit issued by King County. King County's Notice of King County Code Violation to ICON dated May 3, 2019 (attached hereto as Appendix C) and referenced at page 5 of the Court of Appeals decision, cited ICON for specific violation of KCC 16.82.100(A)(4)(d) and directed ICON to "obtain the required permit" in order "to bring this property (8816 SW Cemetery Road) into compliance.

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