# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/9/2023 3:15 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1018771

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 835963-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I

D & R EXCAVATING, INC., a Washington corporation; DOUGLAS D. HOFFMAN and SUSAN K. HOFFMAN, and the marital community composed thereof,

Appellants,

v.

KING COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington; and CPM DEVELOPMENT CORP., dba ICON MATERIALS, a Washington corporation, Respondents

#### ANSWER TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lawrence S. Glosser, WSBA No. 25098 1325 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1850

Seattle, WA 98101 Phone: (206) 287-9900 Fax: (206) 934-1139

larry.glosser@acslawyers.com

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

As the Hearing Examiner determined it lacked jurisdiction to decide contractual matters, King County filed suit seeking specific performance that all millings be removed from the Hoffmann Property. *Id.* at 1-10. King County's Complaint asserted no claim or request to remediate Williams Property Holdings, the Melita Pit, or Misty Isle Farms because ICON already remediated those properties on King County's directives. *See id.* at 1-9.1

In turn, ICON named D&R as a third-party defendant. *Id.* at 10-24. In addition to seeking indemnity for the claim brought by King County against ICON in the lawsuit to remediate the Hoffmann Property (Part 2 Costs), ICON also sought damages for D&R's breach of its indemnity obligations, seeking its damages for the Part 1 costs—i.e., the costs incurred remediating the Williams Property Holdings, Melita Pit, or Misty Isle Farms properties. *Id.* 

ICON again submitted a tender of defense and demand for indemnity to D&R in connection with the superior court proceedings. *Id.* at 2553-54. The indemnity provision affords ICON a choice to either: (a) select its own attorneys, with D&R to pay the associated costs; or (b)

<sup>1</sup> Months into the litigation, King County amended its Complaint to seek not only remediation of the millings on the Hoffmann Property, but also remediation of the millings placed by D&R on various undisclosed private properties on Vashon Island. *Id.* at 412-23. The costs incurred in so doing

are collectively referred to as the "Part 2 costs."

waive the right to select its own attorneys, with D&R to appoint and pay for qualified counsel. Ex. 17, p. 22. D&R again denied the tender. CP at 2217.

#### E. ICON'S Summary Judgment Motions.

ICON moved for partial summary judgment, seeking a ruling that D&R breached the Subcontract by failing to defend, indemnity and hold ICON harmless with respect to D&R's default and failure to correct its work that caused ICON to incur the Part 1 costs in remediating Williams Property Holdings, Misty Isle, and Melita Pit). *Id.* at 188-208, 2425-2692. In addition, because King County's claims in the lawsuit related to properties that had not yet been remediated (the Hoffmann Property and other unspecified private properties on Vashon), ICON sought a ruling that, to the extent ICON was found liable to King County for this future work, D&R would be held equally liable to ICON for these Part 2 costs. *Id.* 

The trial court granted ICON's motion, ruling that, as a matter of law, D&R assumed the requirements of the King County Contract and WSDOT Specifications with respect to its work and was obligated to properly dispose of the millings in compliance with the specifications and applicable laws and regulations. CP at 426-33. Moreover, because D&R did not defend, indemnify, and hold ICON harmless as was required under

the Subcontract, the trial court ruled that (a) D&R breached the Subcontract by failing to defend, indemnify and hold ICON harmless with respect to King County's directives for the Part 1 costs, and (b) to the extent King County was successful with respect to the future Part 2 costs, D&R would be equally liable to ICON. *Id.* at 431-32. The amount of damages associated with D&R's breach of the Subcontract and failure to defend, indemnify, and hold ICON harmless, however, for *both* the Part 1 costs and the Part 2 costs, was left to the trier of fact (the Jury). *Id.* at 432.

In a separate motion filed several months later, ICON sought summary dismissal of D&R's claims against its payment bond and its surety, Fidelity, on the basis that no amounts were due to D&R. *Id*.at 583-613. The trial court granted the motion, dismissing the claims against ICON's bond issued by Fidelity. CP at 830-35.

# F. The Trial Court Instructed the Jury Consistent with the Summary Judgment Orders, and the Jury Awarded ICON Damages for the Part 1 Costs

After the trial started, King County and ICON settled, and King County dismissed its claims in the litigation against ICON. *Id.* at 1717. Because King County's claims against ICON in the litigation involved *only* the Part 2 Costs (the Hoffmann Property and the other undisclosed private properties that ICON could not remediate), the indemnity claim

remaining for the jury involved only the Part 1 costs (i.e., the Melita Pit, Misty Isle Farms, and Williams Property Holdings). 11 RP at 1024.

As to ICON's claims for damages against D&R, the trial court instructed the jury in a manner virtually identical to its ruling on summary judgment that, under the terms of the Subcontract, D&R breached its duty to defend, indemnify and hold ICON harmless. CP at 1700, 1715; 9 RP at 890. Finding in favor of ICON, the jury awarded ICON its costs incurred for remediating the Melita Pit, Misty Isle Farms, and Williams Property Holdings. CP at 1727. The jury did not award any costs related to the claims that were resolved—i.e., the Hoffmann Property and the remaining undisclosed private properties. *See id*.

#### **G.** The Court of Appeals Affirmed.

Division I of the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming the Summary Judgment orders and the judgment. *King County v. CPM Dev. Corp., dba ICON Materials*, No. 83596-3-I (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 6, 2023) (slip op.). Relying on a plain language interpretation of the Subcontract, the Court rejected the Appellants' argument interposing common law requirements that payment of a claim to a third party and actual liability to that third party are necessary prerequisites to trigger a duty to indemnify in this instance. The Court further rejected the Appellants' argument pertaining to the bond claim that RCW 39.08.030, a

procedural notice statute, provides a private right of action that entitles a bond claimant to maintain a claim even where no amounts are due or will ever become due to the claimant.

#### III. ARGUMENT

### A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Entirely Consistent with Washington Law on Indemnity.

Washington law pertaining to contractual indemnity provisions is extensive and consistent: indemnification provisions are interpreted, like other contract terms, to effectuate the intent of the contracting parties. See e.g., Snohomish County Pub. Transp. Benefit Area Corp. v. FirstGroup Am., Inc., 173 Wn.2d 829, 835, 840, 271 P.3d 850 (2012) (quoting McDowell v. Austin Co., 105 Wn.2d 48, 53-54, 710 P.2d 192 (1985) ("[W]e have 'long preferred to enforce indemnity agreements as executed by the parties.""); see also Jones v. Strom Constr. Co., 84 Wn.2d 518, 520, 527 P.2d 1115 (1974) ("[I]n general, indemnity clauses, just as other contractual provisions, are subject to fundamental rules of contractual construction, i.e., the intent of the parties controls."); Dirk v. Amerco Mktg. Co. of Spokane, 88 Wn.2d 607, 613, 565 P.2d 90 (1977) ("An oftenrepeated rule of construction for interpreting indemnity clauses is that they are to be viewed realistically, recognizing the intent of the parties to allocate as between them the cost or expense of the risk of losses or damages arising out of performance of the contract."); *N. Pac. Ry. Co. v. Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist.*, 85 Wn.2d 920, 922, 540 P.2d 1387 (1975) ("Indemnity clauses are subject to fundamental rules of contractual construction, and are to be construed reasonably so as to carry out, rather than defeat, their purpose.").

Following the long line of cases pertaining to contractual indemnity, the Court of Appeals correctly based its holding on the plain meaning of the parties' bargained-for indemnity agreement. Slip Op. at 14-16. The Court held that the indemnity provision required D&R to "indemnify and hold ICON harmless for 'any and all losses,' 'costs,' and "expenses' incurred as the result of D&R's work," which "necessarily includes the costs and expenses ICON incurred in removing the asphalt millings that D&R stockpiled..." Slip Op. at 14. There was no requirement within this language that ICON must pay a third party, or that ICON first be found actually liable to that third party, to trigger D&R's duty. *Id*.

This holding is not in conflict with any of the Petitioners' cited authority, which largely consists of inapposite cases pertaining to common law or implied indemnity. In particular, the following cases are implied indemnity cases that do not involve any discussion of contractual indemnity provisions: *Nelson v. Sponberg*, 51 Wn.2d 371, 374, 318 P.2d

951 (1957), Newcomer v. Masini, 45 Wn. App. 284, 286-87, 724 P.2d 1122 (1986), Central Washington Refrigeration, Inc. v. Barbee, 133 Wn.2d 509, 946 P.2d 760 (1997), United Boatbuilders, Inc. v. Tempo Prods. Co., 1 Wn. App. 177, 179–80, 459 P.2d 958 (1969), and Fortune View Condo. Ass'n v. Fortune Star Dev. Co., 151 Wn.2d 534, 90 P.3d 1062 (2004). Because these cases take no position on whether common law or implied indemnity requirements regarding actual liability and payment to a third party supplant the parties' bargain, they do not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision.

The Petitioners also cite *Stocker v. Shell Oil Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 546, 547, 716 P.2d 306 (1986) and *Parkridge Assocs. v. Ledcor Indus.*, 113 Wn. App. 592, 605, 54 P.2d 255 (2002), two cases that involve contractual indemnity provisions and that are both entirely consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision.

In *Stocker*, the Court held that contractual indemnity agreements are "consistently enforced" as written, provided they are executed between competent bargainers, are in writing, and meet certain policy objectives, none of which are at issue in this case. 105 Wn.2d at 548. While the Court described indemnity agreements generally as an agreement for contractual contribution, it said nothing about whether payment to a third party and actual liability are required to trigger the duty to indemnify. *Id*.

The fact that the Court specified baseline requirements of an enforceable indemnity provision without ever mentioning payment to a third party or actual liability refutes rather than supports the Petitioners' position. In fact, the Court in *Stocker* confirmed that common law defenses cannot defeat the express language of a contractual indemnification provision, because doing so would "would frustrate the reasonable expectations of the contracting parties and thus interfere with their freedom to contract." *Id.* at 549-50. The Court of Appeals appropriately relied on *Stocker* as to this latter point. Slip Op. at 14-15.

Parkridge likewise does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' holding. There, the Court held that, in the context of contractual indemnity, a breach of the covenant of indemnity and the right to recover accrues when "the liability has become fixed and absolute." Parkridge, 113 Wn. App. at 605. An indemnitor is liable to the indemnitee at the point "when, under the terms and conditions of the contract, the covenant of indemnity is broken." *Id* (emphasis added). These rules are consistent with the Court of Appeals' holding that the terms of the indemnity provision control when a duty to indemnify is breached.

While the Court in *Parkridge* cited *Barbee* to state the general implied indemnity rule that the duty to indemnify accrues when a "party seeking indemnity pays or is legally adjudged obligated to pay damages to

a third party," it did not do so for the purpose of circumscribing the right to contract for a broader provision. *Id.* (quoting *Barbee*, 133 Wn. 2d at 517). Even beyond the fact that ICON did pay amounts to third parties to remediate the work, the Court said nothing about payment *to a third party* being a universal mandate that limits all indemnity provisions, including where, as here, such a requirement would directly contradict the agreed terms.

In addition, the Court in *Parkridge* evaluated when "losses and liabilities," the operative terms in the indemnity provision at issue, were incurred, to determine at which point the duty to indemnify was fixed under that contract. *Id.* Because the indemnitee did not pay a settlement before the statute of repose expired, meaning the indemnitee did not suffer a "loss or liability" under the provision, the indemnity claim was timebarred. *Id.* 

Critically, "liability" in *Parkridge* did not refer to a requirement that the indemnitee had to prove they were actually responsible for the amount paid in the settlement to a third party (as opposed to paying as a volunteer), which is the standard in the common law indemnity cases that the Petitioners rely on. *Compare id. with Nelson*, 51 Wn.2d at 377. Instead, the Court in *Parkridge* focused on when a real pecuniary loss was suffered, and not just potentially suffered, under the applicable indemnity

provision. As the Court of Appeals noted, here, ICON incurred actual costs and expenses arising from D&R's work in removing the milled asphalt, meaning the liability was "fixed and absolute" under the contract, and D&R's indemnity obligations were triggered. Slip Op. at 14.

None of Petitioners' proffered authority supports their contention that payment to a third party and actual liability, principles derived from common law and implied indemnity, prevail over the express terms of the parties' indemnity agreement. To the contrary, as this Court recently recognized, "as a bargained-for allocation of liability between parties," an indemnity agreement "trumps allocation by common law as between those parties." *Wilcox v. Basehore*, 187 Wn.2d 772, 789, 389 P.3d 531 (2017). Because the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Washington law, discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) is not warranted.

# B. The Construction of An Indemnity Provision in a Subcontract between Two Corporate Entities Does Not Implicate the Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals decision was based on the particular terms of the parties' indemnity agreement as applied to the facts of this case, consistent with the immense body of law that already exists pertaining to interpretation of contractual indemnity provisions. Although indemnity agreements are common, it is unlikely that the phrasing of other provisions will be precisely identical to that used here, or that identical facts will arise so as to trigger the same contract terms within that indemnity provision. Moreover, the decision is unpublished and therefore has no precedential value. *See* GR 14.1(a). Notwithstanding the Petitioners' bold pronouncement that this case implicates the public interest based on their erroneous understanding of the law, this lawsuit is limited to a private dispute between two contracting parties. Discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) should likewise not be granted.

## C. There is No Basis for Discretionary Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision on the Petitioners' Bond Claim.

With respect to the claim against ICON's payment bond for which Fidelity is the surety, the Petitioners have not specified which of the exclusive grounds for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b) entitle them to discretionary review. RAP 13.4(b) provides that discretionary review will only be granted if one of the four categories apply; therefore, Petitioners have failed to show why the Court must review their claim.

In any event, the Petitioners misapprehend the reason their argument on the bond claim was rejected by the Court of Appeals. The Petitioner's claim against ICON's bond was dismissed because they "had no viable claim against ICON for sums owed." Slip Op. at 17. On appeal, the Appellants did not appeal from or assign error to the trial court's dismissal of their affirmative claims against ICON or the jury's verdict

finding ICON did not owe payment to D&R. With no claim against ICON, there can be no claim against its surety. *Tucker v. Brown*, 20 Wn.2d 740, 848, 150 P.2d 604 (1944); *see also McChord Credit Union v. Parrish*, 61 Wn. App. 8, 13-14, 809 P.2d 759 (1991); *Cabinets & Millwork, Inc. v. Accredited Sur. & Cas. Co.*, 132 Wn. App. 202, 207, 130 P.3d 887 (2006).

Contrary to the Petitioner's argument, their claim was not dismissed on procedural or ripeness grounds, but rather because they lacked any substantive claim for damages against ICON. The Court of Appeals correctly held that RCW 39.08.030, a procedural a notice statute, does not grant claimants a private right of action.<sup>2</sup> Consequently, having identified no basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b), the Court should deny the petition as to the bond claim issue as well.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The Petitioners have failed to identify any conflict with a decision of this Court or of a published Court of Appeals Decision, and the claims pertaining to the dispute with Respondents herein do not implicate a

\_

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